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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

The Republican National Committee

The Democratic National Committee

The Republican National State
Elections Comrittee

The Washington State Democratic
Central Committee

The Washington State Republican
Party

MUR 1766

L& A & A & 4 & & & 4

< CERTIFICATION

o

o~ I, Marjorie W. Emmons, recording secretary for the

tn Federal Election Commission executive session of January 15,

— 1985, do hereby certify that the Commission decided by a

tn vote of 5-1 to take the following actions in MUR 1766:

(o}

< 1. Find no reason to believe the Democratic
National Committee and Paul G. Kirk, as

C treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. § 441la or

ia § 441b.

2. Find no reason to believe the Republican
National Committee and William J. McManus,

as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. § 44la or

§ 441b.

Find no reason to believe the Republican
National State Elections Committee and
Tim Crawford, as director, violated

2 U.S.C. § 441a or § 441b.

Find no reason to believe the Washington
State Democratic Central Committee and
Clay S. Beck, as treasurer, violated

2 U.S.C. § 441a or § 441b.

(continued)



Federal Election Commission
Certification for MUR 1766
January 15, 1985

Find no reason to believe the Washington
State Republican Party and Larry W. Wells,
as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. § 44la

or § 441b.

Approve and authorize the sending of the
letters attached to the General Counsel's
report dated January 2, 198S5.

7. CLOSE THE FILE.

Commissioners Aikens, Elliott, McDonald, McGarry,
and Reiche voted affirmatively for the decision;
Commissioner Harris dissented.

Attest:

Marjorie W. Emmons
Secretary of the Commission




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

January 24, 1985

Anthony 8. Harrington
Democratic National Committee
1625 Massachusetts Avenue, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20036

Re: MUR 1766
Democratic National Committee

Dear Mr. Harrington:

On September 10, 1984, the Commission notified your client
of a complaint alleging violations of certain sections of the
Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended.

The Commission, on January 15, 1985, determined that on the
basis of the information in the complaint, and information
provided by your client, there is no reason to believe that a
violation of any statute within its jurisdiction has been
committed. Accordingly, the Commission closed its file in this
matter. This matter will become a part of the public record
within 30 days.

Sincerely,

Charles N, Steele
General Counsel

By Kenneth A. Gross
Associate Gener




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

January 24, 1985

David T. McDhonald

Shidler, McBroom & Gates
1000 Norton Building
Seattle, Washington 98104

Re: MUR 1766
Washington State Democratic Central
Committee

Dear Mr. McDonald:
On September 10, 1984, the Commission notified your client

of a complaint alleging violations of certain sections of the
Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended.

The Commission, on January 15 , 1985, detérmined that on the
basis of the information in the complaint, and information

provided by your client, there is no reason to believe that a
violation of any statute within its jurisdiction has been ‘
committed. Accordingly, the Commission closed its file in this
matter, This matter will become a part of the public record
within 30 days.

Sincerely,

Charles N. Steele
General Counsel

Kenneth A. Grgs
Associate Gere Counsel
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

January 24, 1985

Mark Braden

Republican National Committee
310 First Street, S.E.
Washington, D.C. 20003

Re: MUR 1766

Republican National Committee

Republican National State Elections
Committee

Republican State Committee of
Washington

Dear Mr. Braden:

On September 10, 1984, the Commission notified your clients
of a complaint alleging violations of certain sections of the
Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended.

The Commission, on January 15 , 1985, determined that on the
basis of the information in the complaint, and information
provided by your clients, there is no reason to believe that a
violation of any statute within its jurisdiction has been
committed. Accordingly, the Commission closed its file in this
matter. This matter will become a part of the public record
within 30 days.

Sincerely,

Charles N, Steele
General Counsel

By Kenneth A, Grgs
Associate Gerieral Counsel




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINCTON, D.C. 20463

January 24, 1985

Ellen 8. Miller
Center for Responsive Politics
#6 E Street, 8.E.

Washington, D.C. 20003

Re: MUR 1766

Dear Ms, Miller:

The Federal Election Commission has reviewed the allegations
of your complaint dated August 27, 1984, and determined that on
the basis of the information provided in the complaint and
information provided by the Respondent there is no reason to
believe that a violation of the Federal Election Campaign Act of
o 1971, as amended ("the Act") has been committed. Accordingly,
the Commission has decided to close the file in this matter. The
Federal Election Campaign Act allows a complainant to seek

A judicial review of the Commission's dismissal of this action.
See 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a) (8). :

Should additional information come to your attention which
you believe establishes a violation of the Act, you may file a
complaint pursuant to the requirements set forth in 2 U.S.C.

§ 437g(2)(1) and 11 C.F.R., § 111.4.

Sincerely,

C--rles N.

Associate G neral Counsel

Enclosure
General Counsel's Report
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

‘Anthony 8. Harrington
" Democratic National Committee

1625 Massachusetts Avenue, N.W.

Re: MUR 1766
Democratic National Committee

Dear Mr. Harrington:

On September 10, 1984, the Commission notified your client
of a complaint alleging violations of certain sections of the
Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended.

The Commission, on ¢ 1988, determined that on the
basis of the information in the complaint, and information
provided by your client, there is no reason to believe that a
violation of any statute within its jurisdiction has been

committed. Accordingly, the Commission closed its file in this
matter. This matter will become a part of the public record
within 30 days.

Sincerely,

Charles N. Steele
General Counsel

By Kenneth A. Gross
Associate General Counsel

ot |




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION |

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

David T. Mcbonald
Shidler, McBroom & Gates
1000 Norton Building
Seattle, Washington 98104

Re: MUR 1766
Washington State Democratic CQnttal
Committee

Dear Mr. McDonald:

On September 10, 1984, the Comnillidn notified your client
of a complaint alleging violations of certain sections of the
Fedetal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended.

The Commission, on , 198§, determined that on the
basis of the information in the complaint, and information
provided by your client, there is no reason to believe that a
violation of any statute within its jurisdiction has been
committed. Accordingly, the Commission closed its file in this
matter., This matter will become a part of the public record
within 30 days.

Sincerely,

Charles N, Steele
General Counsel

By Kenneth A. Gross
Associate General Counsel




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISS!ON
 WASNINGTON, D.C. 20463

Mark Braden

Republican National Committee
310 First Street, S8.E.
Wwashington, D.C. 20003

Re: MUR 1766

Republican National Connittee

Republican National State Blections
Committee

Republican 8tate Committee of
Washington

. Dear Mr. Braden: .

On September 10, 1984, the Commission notitlid your clients
of a complaint alleging violations of certain sections of the
Fedetal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended.

. The Commission, on » 1988, determined that on the
basis of the information in the complaint, and information
provided by your clients, there is no reason to believe that a
violation of any statute within its jurisdiction has been
committed., Accordingly, the Commission closed its file in this
matter. This matter will become a part of the public record
within 30 days.

Sincerely,

Charles N. Steele
General Counsel

By Kenneth A, Gross
Associate General Counsel




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINCTON, D.C. 20463 :

‘Bllen 8. Miller , u
Center for Responsive Politics
$6 E Street, 8.E,

Washington, D.C. 20003

Re: MUR 1766
Dear Ms. Miller:

The Federal Election Commission has reviewed the allegations
of your complaint dated August 27, 1984, and determined that on
the basis of the information provided in the complaint and
information provided by the Respondent there is no reason to
believe that ‘a violation of the Federal Election Campaign Act of
1971, as amended ("the Act"”) has been coomitted. Accordingly,
the Commission has decided to close the file in this matter. The
Federal Election Campaign Act allows a complainant to seek
judicial review of the Commission's dismissal of this action.

See 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a) (8).

521 3

Should additional information come to your attention which
you believe establishes a violation of the Act, you may file a
complaint pursuant to the requirements set forth in 2 U.S.C.
§ 437g(a) (1) and 11 C.F.R. § 11l1.4.

N 405

Sincerely,

”
2

Charles N. Steele
General Counsel

Kenneth A. Gross
Associate General Counsel

Enclosure
General Counsel's Report




B adad L L Rl !ED
PEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION (OFFICE ©F "HE FEC

1328 K Street, N.W. Lo
Washington, D.C. 20463 SOMMISS 194 SECRETARY

3 A9:43

FIRST GENERAL COUNSEL'S REpoRd JAN

DATE AND TIME OF TRANSMITTAL ny MUR ¥O. 1766
t/I DATE COMPLAINT RECEIVED BY

0GC TO THE COMMISSION

COMPLAINANT'S NAME: Ellen S. Miller
Center for Responsive Politlcl

~

RESPONDENTS' NAME: The Republican National Committee
: The Democratic National Committee
The Republican National State Elections
Committee
The Washington State Democratic Central
Committee
The Washington State Republican Party

RELEVANT STATUTES 2 U.8.C., § 441b, § 44la(a), § 441la(q),
§ 431(8) (B) (xii),
and § 431(9) (B)) (ix)
11 C.F.R. § 106.1, § 100.7(b) (17),
§ 100.8(b) (18) and § 110.7(b) (2)

INTERNAL REPORTS CHECKS: Republican National Committee
Democratic National Committee
Washington State Democratic Central
Committee (federal account)
Washington Republican Federal
Campaign Committee
SUMMARY OF ALLEGATIONS
Ellen Miller, executive director of the Center for
Responsive Politics, filed a complaint (Attachment 1) in which
she asserts that the Republican National Committee and its arm,
the Republican National State Elections Committee, and the
Democratic National Committee raised large amounts of non-federal

money which were transferred in 1983 to their respective state
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organizations, the Washington State Republican Party and the

Washiﬁgton State Democratic Central Committee. These monies wéro
to be used ostensibly for the purpose of state party building.
Complainant alleges, howévot, that for the most part these monies
were intended to influence the November 8, 1983, special election
in the State of Washington. Thus, complainant charges that
contributions not subject to the prohibitions and limitations of
the Act were used to influence the 1983 special election in the
State of Washington.

Complainant also claims that if the Democratic and
Republican Parties are required to apportion a percentage of
non-federal monies as expenditures to the Senatorial election in
Washington, then party committee expenditure limitations of 2
U.8.C. § 44la(d) may have been exceeded.

Further, complainant alleges that the Republican and
Democratic National Committees raised non-federal money which in
1984 was ostensibly channelled nationwide into state and local
party building activities. Complainant alleges that these monies
in fact affected and should have been allocated to 1984 federal
candidates. Complainant charges that this activity resulted in
violations of the contribution limitations and prohibitions of
the Act.

The thrust of the complaint is that the involvement of
national political committees in raising large sums of corporate,
union, and other impermissible funds for state party building

activities has undermined public confidence that the laws
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regulating federal races are being complied with.

Responses to the allegations include a joint submission by
the Republican National Committee, the Republican National State
Blections Committee and the Washington State Republican Party
(Attaéhnent 2), the Democratic National Committee (Attachment 3)
and the Washington State Democratic Central COmmitgoc (Attachment
4).

1. Pacts

As stated in the complaint, a special election was held on
November 8, 1983, in the state of Washington to £i1l1l the U.S.
Senate seat of the late Henry M. Jackson. The Senatorial
election was the only federal election in Washington that
November.

Non-federal elections were held in cities and counties. 1In
30 of the 39 counties, the elections were non-partisan. However,
as the Democratic National Committee points out, four counties
which did hold partisan races (King, Snohomish, Spokane and
Yakima) contain almost 60% of the state's population. A total of
9 counties held 28 partisan contests at the county level, the
Republican Party being represented by a candidate in 21 of these
races, City and local elections were non-partisan, as were two
judicial contests.

The Democratic National Committee under a cover letter dated
October 17, 1983, transferred $20,000 from its Non-Federal
Corporate Account to the Washington State Democratic Central

Committee. The letter stated that the funds were non-federal
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and should not be used in connection with any federal election.
The Democratic National Committee also states in its response
that it transferred $10,000 of fedotalinoniel to the Washington
State Democratic Central Committee.

Complainant states that the Republican National Committee
and its affiliate, the Republican National State Elections
Committee, transferred $67,000 in non-federal funds to the
Washington State Republican Party during the six week period
prior to the special election. In its response, however, the
Republican National Committee clarified that $45,000 of the
$67,000 transferred to the Washington State Republican Party was
federal money, raised under the limitations and tostrictions.of
the Act. Thetefore, only $22,000 in non-federal money was
contributed from the Republican National Committee to the
Washington State Republican Party.l/

‘ In addition, the National Republican Senatorial Committee,
as agent for the Republican National Committee and the Washington
State Republican Party, expended $230,213.45 in coordinated party
expenditures between October 20, 1983, and November 22, 1983,

1/ The $22,000 was evidently paid to the Washington State
Republican Party by the Republican National State Elections
Committee in exchange for a voter registration list. The
Republican National State Elections Committee made a $16,000
contribution to the Washington State Republican Party on
September 26, 1983, for "political list development.”™ A second
contribution of $6,000 was reported on October 11, 1983, also for
"political list development.”™ The Republican National Committee
enclosed in its response a copy of a contract with the Republican
Washington State Party directing the State Party to develop a
voter registration list for $24,240.




on behalf of the Republican candidate. The Democratic Senatorial
Campaign Committee, as agent for the Democratic National
Committee and the Washington State Democratic Central Committee,

reported $117,154.22 in coordinated party expenditures on behalf

of its candidate.

Complainant also alleges that the national parties have
raised and spent substantial sums of non-federal money for party
building activities which in effect benefitted and should have
been allocated to Presidential and federal candidates in the 1984
election. Since these non-federal monies contain funds not
subject to the limitations and prohibitions of the Act,
complainant charges that respondents have violated 2 U.8.C. §
441b(a) and § 44la. Complainant included a number of newspaper
article citations in which both the Democratic and Republican
National Committees are reported as admitting to substantial
expenditures of non-federal money. Complainant charges that both
parties have initiated fundraising drives in an effort to channel
millions of dollars of non-federal money into the 1984
Presidential election, in violation of the Act. Complainant
offers no further evidence to support these allegations.

2. Legal Analysis

State and local parties may raise and spend non-federal
funds in connection with elections for non-federal candidates,
Voter registration and get-out-the-vote drives, however, even

though not expressly on behalf of candidates for Federal office,
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influence federal as well as non-federal elections. Advllo:y
Opinion 1978-10 and 1978-50. Therefore, the Commission has
required that expenditures for party building activities must be

;glibb&tud on a reasonable basis between federal and non-federal -

elections. I4. and 11 C.P.R. § 106.1(c) and § 106.1(e). The
costs allocable to non-Federal elections may be paid out of Party
funds raised and expended pursuant to applicable state law. That
pbrtion‘of costs allocable to federal elections, however,‘iust
come from funds contributed in accord with the Act, that is funds

contributed in accordance with the limitations and prohibitions

‘contained in 2 U.8.C. §§ 441la, 441b, 441c, 44le, 441f and

44l1g. 2/

There are a number of methods available to apportion between
federal and non-federal elections. The allocation must be made
on a reasonable basis. 11 U.S.C. § 106.1(c) and § 106.1(e).

Allocation formulas considered reasonably by the Commission are

2/ Payments by State and local party organizations for the
costs of voter registration and get-out-the-vote activities on
behalf of a Presidential or Vice-Presidential candidate are
exempt from the definition of an expenditure or contribution
under 2 U.S.C. § 431(8) (B) (xii) and § 431(9) (B) (ix) and 11 C.F.R.
§ 100.7(b) (17) and 100.8(b) (18) . However, that portion of the
costs of such activities allocable to Federal candidates must be
paid from contributions subject to the limitations and
prohibitions of the Act.

Further, payments from funds donated by a national committee
of a political party to a State or local party committee for
voter registration and get-out-the-vote activities do not qualify
under this exemption. Rather, such funds shall be subject to the
limitations and prohibitions of the Act. 11 C.F.R.

§ 100.7(b) (17) (vii) and § 100.8(b) (18) (vii).

The intention of teh exemption was to permit state and local
parties a means to support Presidential and Vice-Presidential
nominees who accept public funding and are therefore prohibited
from accepting contributions.




the proportion of funds expended on Federal and non-Pederal

elections, the ratio of funds received by party ofgﬁhisations tpr'
" both Federal election and 8tate and local election purposes; and
ratio of number of ballot positions for Pederal office in the
next election to the number of positions for coaparabii'Stato
offices in the next election. Advisory Opinion 1970f28 and
vAﬁvinory Opinion Request 1976-72. The Act does not require,
however, that the allocation percentage be reported.

I. The Use of Non-Federal Funds contributed by a National Party

in a United States Senatorial Election

The Republican National State Elections Committee reported
to the Washington Public Disclosure Commission $22,000
in non-federal contributions to the w§sh1ngton State Republican
Party, ostensibly for the development of a mailing list.
Respondent states the list was completed after the special
election. If the list is used for party building, however, a
federal allocation must be made.

The Republican National Committee also reported $45,000 in
transfers to the Washington State Republican Party from funds
raised under the limitations and restrictions of the Act.
Considering the large amount of federal money transferred to the
state committee, there is no reason to believe that a proper
allocation was not made concerning the $22,000 of non-federal
money or that a federal portion was not paid with federal funds.

The Democratic National Committee, under a cover letter

dated October 17, 1983, contributed $20,000 from its non-federal
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account to the non-federal account of the n;dhtngton'ﬂtqgc
Democratic Party. The letter clearly stated the money was
ﬁon—gédoral and only to be used in non-federal elections. The
Democratic National Committee also made a !odo;alicontribﬁtion of
$10,000 to the Washington State Democratic Party on November 2,

- 1983.

The complaint does not allege how the $20,000 non-federal
contribution was expended. If the funds were distributed
directly into non-federal candidates' campaigns, no violation
would have occurred. If the funds were expended on party
building activities, an allocation must be made for federal
activity. Since the Democratic National Committee clearly
indicated in its letter to the Washington State Democratic party
that the $20,000 was to be used for non-federal elections, and
since the Democratic National Committee also made a federal
contribution of $10,000, there is no reason to believe a
reasonable apportionment was not made and paid for with fedéral
funds.

The complainant argues that the party committees may have
violated 2 U.S.C. § 44la(d) expenditure limitations in regard to
the Senatorial election. The National and State Committees of a
political party may each expend two cents multiplied by the
voting age population of the state to party candidates for the
Senate. 2 U.S.C. § 44la(d) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.7(b) (2) (i) (A).
According to the complainant, the maximum amount the national and

state party committees of Washington were each able to spend on




 f; ;nurpuno otaalking oxpcndituros allom»d by the Act.ﬂ _4!h£; VI-
' 'Democratic 8e lamp aittee, 454 U.8, 27, (1981).
"Paxty'conulttecl may not nake '1ndcpendcnt' expcnditutas of their

" own, hovever. 1d. and 11 C.P.R. § 110.7(b) (4).

The National Ropubllcan Senatorial Campaign CGIMittec !
:eported expenditurea ot $230,213.45 on bohalt of the Ropubllcan
candtdato in coordination nith the Rapublican National Connittee
and the w.-hingtonvstato Republican Party, or $12,845.95 under
the total 2 U.8.C. § 44l1a(d) limit. The Democratic Senatorial
Campaign Committee reported $117,154.22 in coordinated party
expenditures, or $125,905.18 under the 2 U.8.C. § 44la(d) limit.

The argument of the complainant seems to be that the money
conttibuted by both the Dénocrats and Republicans in Washington
was not merely for party building or for other purposes, but to
influence the Senatorial election. Of the $30,000 contributed by
the Democratic National Committee ($10,000 federal money and
$20,000 non-federal money) complainant believes some portion
should be attributed to Senate candidate Michael Lowry. Of the
$67,000 contributed by the Republican National Committee and the
Republican National State Elections Committee ($45,000 federal
money and $22,000 non-federal money), complainant believes some

portion should be attributed to Senate candidate Daniel Evans.
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If the amount to be apportioned exceeded $125,905.18 for the
Democrats or $12,845.95 for the Republicans, then thobz U.8.C.
l 44la(d) limits would be exceeded,

Expenditures for rcgilttation and gct-out-th.—voto drives by
a committee, however, need not be attributed to an individual
candidate unless the expenditures were made on behalf of a
clearly identified candidate, and the expenditure can be directly
attributed to that candidate. 11 C.F.R. § 106.1(c) (2), Advisory
Opinions 1978-10 and Advisory Opinion 1978-50. “"Clearly
identified" is defined in 11 C.FP.R. § 106.1(d) to mean that the
candidate's name appears, a photograph or drawing of the
candidate appears or the identity of the candidate is apparent by
unambiguous references.

The complainant does not allege and there is no evidence
that either the Republican or Democratic candidates were "clearly
identified" in party building activities. Accordingly, there is
no reason to believe that expenditures should be attributed to
either candidate Evans or candidate Lowry which would cause the
respondents to exceed 2 U.S.C. § 44la(d) limitations to a
Senatorial candidate.

II. National Party Committee Non-Federal Funding of Presidential
and other federal elections.

Complainant next alleged that the Democratic and Republican

Parties raised and spent substantial sums of non-federal money




for party building.on a nationwide basis in 1934,,withnnt
‘ allocating a proper portion to federal elections whlch wnra
;affeafcd by uhese efforts.'
1 : ﬁmder pteqept reportlng provitions. committeel are not
s quqnlx.d to report.the amount of the federal allocations, but

\ naed only report for what purpone the expenditures were made. _/
Therefore, 1t ia difficult if not lmpossible to determine
vwhethe:-a reasonable allocation has been made to avoid the use

of prohibited funds in federalcéléqgions. Further, we have

., addressed all specific éllegatibné'raised in the complaint

concerning the improper use of funds in federal elections.
Thus, we recommend that theVCOmmissioh find'ho‘reason to bélieve
the Republican National Committee and its treasurer or the
Democratic National Committee and its treasurer violated

2 U.S.C. § 441b(a) and § 441a by using non-federal money in

the 1984 federal elections.

3/ By letter dated November 5, 1984, Common Cause requested
that the Commission institute rulemaking proceedings to establish
additional disclosure requirements and other statutory

remedies the Commission deems necessary to foster future
compliance with the allocation of federal and non-federal monies
for party building activities (Attachment 5). On Dpecember 18,
1984, the Commission voted to publish in the Federal Register

a notice for comments. Thus, the Commission will be

addressing the general issues raised in the matter in the context
of the rulemaking request.
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| ,ﬂﬁina né quaon A0 beliovc the DUI°¢:atie n-tional G
i;ﬁ,jcqu.;et.. .nq Paul G. lirk. as ttcalurer. violated

2 U.8, C. ﬁ lllq or § 441b1

-sftnd no reason to bolicve the Republican National

COmnlttee and wWilliam J. chanus, as treasurer,

violatod 2 U.8.C. § 441a or § 441b;

find no reason to believe the Republican National State
Blections 00mmittee and Tim Ctawford. as director,
violated 2 U.8.C. § 44l1a or § 441b;

find no reason to believe the Washington State
Democratic Central Committee and Clay S. Beck, as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. § 44la or § 441lb;

find no reason to believe the Washington State
Republican Party and La:ry W. Wells, as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. § 44la or § 441b;

approve and authorize the sending of the attached

letters; and




close tho file.
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,yfanlponnnaot the blican Nationnl Committee, tho
" - Republican uatlona State Blections Committee, and the
i blican State Committee of Washington

Iponse of ‘the Democratic National Committee

& Rnnponqpmpt ‘the Washington State Democratic Central

Committee

.Request for nhlemnking

Letters




ATTAMMENT T

UNITED, STATES OF AMERICA
FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

The Center for Responsive Politics
6 B Street, S.E. '
Washington, D.C. 20003

Complainant,
v8.

The Republican National Committee
320 1st Street, S.E.
Washington, D.C. 20003

The Democratic National Committee
1625 Massachusetts Avenue, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20036

The Republican National State Elections Committee
320 1st Street, S.E.
Washington, D.C. 20003

The Washington State Democratic Central Committee
1701 Smith Tower
Seattle, Washington, 98104
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The Washington State Republican Party (The Republican
State Committee of Washington)

9 Lake Bellevue %

$#203

Bellevue, Washington 98005
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COMPLAINT

I
Introduction

For decades it has been the public policy of the United
States to prohibit funds from the general treasury of corpo-

rations and labor unions to be used in connection with

federal elections. And since the 1970's, it has been the

L

o public policy of the U.S. pursuant to the Federal Blection
L Campaign Act of 1971 as amended to regulate contributions

" _and expenditures made for the purpose of influencing fedefal
o elections. These laws include limits on the contributions
':: or expenditures that may be made, ahd reéuite public

disclosure of such contributions and expenditures that are
made.

The effectiveness and integrity of the federal election

laws has become increasingly threatened in the past few
years by the growing involvment by the national party
committees and their affiliates with the raising and
distributing of large, unregulated and undiscloseé sums of
money ostensibly for the purpose of state party building.

National political committees may have a legitimate interest

The

in non-federal elections at the state or local level.

involvement of national political committees in raising
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rapidly escalating sums of corporate and other impermissible

funds under the federal election laws, however, has

undermined public confidence that such committees are

complying with the laws regulating federal races. .
This complaint identifies a particularly clear instince

of the use of such non-federal funds to influence a federal

election. It illustrates the need for the issuance of addi-

tional guidelines by the Federal Election COmmisaion (the

\Ch Commission) on the proper use by party committees of non-
o federal funds in a federal elecﬁion year. It emphasizes the
N need for better monitoring and reporting procedures so that
wn the Commission and the public can be more confident in the
g future that non-federal funds raised and disbursed by
i national and state party committees are not in fact being
:Z used to influence federal elections. 1In light of the
c upcoming November elections, and the fact that both parties
W have openly declared their intent to raise and distribute
o

significant amounts of non-federal funds in connection with

the federal elections, the urgehcy of the issue is apparent.

II

The Parties

1. The complainant, the Center for Responsive Politics, is

a non-profit bipartisan public interest research organiza-




tion incorporated in the District of Columbia. It seeks to
promote better public understanding and confidence in
Congress as an 1nst1tutlon} and to conduct research on ,
issues affecting Congress as an ipatitﬁtion. including ihe
laws governing campaign tiﬁancing. Its Board of niroctdrc
are Mrs. Ellen 8. Miller (Preiident of the Board), Mr. Tom
Bedell (Vice-President of the Board), the ubnOtable Orval
Hansen (Secretary-Treasurer), the Honorable Dick Clark, Mr.
é5 George Denison, Ms. Nanette Falkenberg, Mr. Peter H. Fenn,
- Mr. Jim Guest, Mr. Peter B. Kovler, and the Honorable Hugh
™ Scott. '

wn

e | 2. On information and belief the respondents are identifed

as follows:

o 8

= (a) The Republican National Committee is the national
c committee of the Republican Party. It is responsible for

tn the day-to-day operations of the Republican Party at the

o

national level, and also provides support for local and
state Republican party committees. It maintains both
federal and non-federal accounts for support of candidates
on the federal and state or local level.
(b)

committee of the Democratic Party. It is responsible for

The Democratic National Committee is the national

the day-to-day operations of the Democratic Party at the

national level, and also provides support for local and
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state Democratic party committees. It maintains both
federal and non-federal accounts for support of candidates
on the federal and state or local level.
(c) The Republican National State Elections Committee
is an affiliate of the Republican National Committee eséa-
blished for the purpose of providing campaign funds and

support to state and local candidates. It solicits and

receives contributions from corporations and individuals for
the purpose of influencing the outcome of state and local
elections. The Committee is not registered with the Commis~
sion.

(d) The Washington State Democratic Central Committee
is the Democratic Party committee for the State of
Washington. It is responsible for the day-to-day operations

of the Democratic Party at the state and local level, and it

"n40515 231

provides monetary support for federal, state and local

5

Democratic Party candidates in éhe state. It maintains both

2

federal and non-federal accounts for support of candidates
on the federal, state and locai level. It files reports
with the Commission and The wWashington State Public
Disclosure Commission.
(e) The Washington State Republican Party (also known

as The Republican State Committee of Washington) is the

Republican Party Committee for the State of Washington. 1It

is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the



Republican Party at the state level, and it provides support
for local and state Republican Party'candidatco in the f;. |
. State. It doos not tcpo:t‘to the rodo;al tloctions Commisg~

'sion, and maintains no federal accounts, although a separate
entity known as the WQchingtop S8tate Republican rcdoral.
Campaign Committee is registe:éd with the Commission.

111

}5 Background

M | '

o A. Growing involvement of Nationai Partﬁ Committees in

n Non-Federal Accounts

s In connection with recent Presidential and other

n federal elections, the national party comﬁittees have raised
e and spent substantial sums of money that‘could not be

:T contributed directly to a federal campaign. According to a
n number of press reports, the Reagan~Bush campaign in 1980

e raised $10 to $15 million in 1980 for such purposes. (Tom

B. Edsall, "Reagan Campaign Gegring Up Its Soft Money

Machine For 1984", The Washington Post, November 27, 1983,
p. Al7; Brooks Jackson, "Loopholes Allow Flood of Campaign

Giving by Businesses, Fat Cats", The Wal;;Stteet Journal,

July 5, 1984.) The Democratic Party has said that in 1983

it got over $700,029 for its state accounts from the labor

unions, $1.3 million from corporations and "a bit more"” from
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individuals who had reached their ceiling of $25,000.
(Jackson, July 5, 1983, supra.)

According to Mr. Mark Braden, General Counsel of the
Republican National Committee, the committee has similar
plans during the 1984 campaign to raise and contribute noﬁ-
federal money for activities at the state level. (Peter

Grier, "Soft Money and '84 Campaign PFPinancing", Christian

Science Monitor, June 19, 1984, p. 4; See also, Thomas B.

Edsall, “"Democrats' Split Delays Opening of Fund Drive," The
Washington Post, August 16, 1984, p. A4). Mr. Robert
Strauss, the former Democratic Party leader, has stated "the
great untold story is how much soft money the Republicans
will have. It will come in carloads. They're really going

to pour that money in." (Jackson, July 5, 1984, supra).

The Democrats according to press reports plan a program . —.-—

of their own to channel non-federal money from private
donors into state parties. (Thom;s B. Edsall, "Convening

Democratics Target Core Donors", The Washington Post, July

12, 1984, p. Ad4; "Campaign 1984: Democrats Seek to Raise $26

Million to $42 Million in Combined Victory Fund®, Bureau of

National Affairs, Daily Executive Reporter, July 20, 1984,

p. LL=-2; Thomas B. Edsall, August 16, 1984, supra). Top
Democratic National Committee officials have publicly




pledged "a strong (soft money] effort™ in 1984. (Grier,
June 19, 1984, supra).

. .Canpdign officials have made no secret of the fact that
in states not prohibiting it, money for these efforts will
come from corporations and lqut organizations, or indiéi-
duals, who could not cohttibuté directly to federal
campaigns. The General Counsel of the Republican Party has
said most of that party's non-federal funds will come in

ér 1984 from individuals who are prohibited by the federal
™M election law; from giving additional money directly to
~ federal candidates. (Grier, June 1§,~1984, ggggg.)

0 The National Director of the Democratic.National
"Committee, Mr. Michael Steed, has sgid‘in regard to the
f Democratic effort in 1984 that mohéy will be raised from

corporations and labor unions. (Thomas B. Edsall, "The

Clamor for Soft Money", The Washington Post National Weekly

Edition, April 30, 1984, p. 12.) He openly concedes that
the technique also allows individuals who have otherwise
contributed the maximum amount to fedetal campaigns to
continue to give. He has explained "we tell our people
[fupd raisers] that no one can max out, because once you're
maxed out federally, you can switch to nonfederal soft
money." (Ibid.) Mr. Tim Fincheh, Deputy Campaign Chairman
of the Democratic National Committee and Deputy Campaign

Chairman of the Mondale-Ferraro Campaign Committee, was



recently quoted in the press as saying the Democratic
National Committee will raise $4 million to $5 million in
non-federal funds in connection with the fall campaign.
-(Edsall, August 16, 1984, supra.)

Campaign officials have publicly conceded the connec-

tion between such soft money campaigns and the federal

races. According to Mr. Carlos Perez, Chairman of the GOP
Hispanic registration effort in Florida known as Florida

VIVA 1984, "what is at stake, is the reelection of President

Reagan"”

(Thomas B. Edsall, April 30, 1984, supra). Dr.
Tirso del Junco, Head of VIVA 1984 said concerning a 1982
effort in California funded in part by $9.2 billion of non-

federal money that "there is no doubt Pete Wilson the United

States Senator benefited from this . . . On the weekend

before the election we had 1,875 phones operating. We made

some 1.8 million telephone calls.” (Ibid). According to Mr.
Tim Finchem, the Mondale campaign plans to establish non-

federal money committees in many states as subsidiaries of

the state Democratic Party in order to assist Mr. Mondale.

According to Mr. E. William Crotty, co-chairman of a major

Democratic effort to raise non-federal funds, "the money

never goes directly to Mondale, but it helps indirectly."

(Thomas B. Edsall, July 12, 1984, supra). Similar views

have been attributed to a Democrat working on that party's

$1.4 million non-federal drive in Texas. ("Soft Money Will
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Pinance Voter Signup®, Thomas B. Edsall, The Washington
Post, August 12, 1984, p. Ad.) 2

. It is hardly credible in light of the heavy investment

of time and money by federal campaign officials in rais%ng

unregulated funds in the midst. of a federal campaign that

such contributions are unconnected with a federal election,

or that their sole use is for non-federal purposes. The

sharply increased interest in ataﬁe‘party building in Preai;

dential election years, and the statements of federal

campaign officials reported in the pfess, suggest thelfunds

are in fact contributed in connection with, and for the

purpose of influencing, federal elections.

B. The Threat to the Inteqrity of the Federal Election

Lavs

The Commission has made it clear in the past that non-
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federal funds raised by the national party committees must
be used "for the exclusive and limitéd purpose of |
influencing the nomination or election of candidates for
non-federal offices." .They may not be used partly in con-
nection with, or to influence, a federal election (See AOR

79-17' July 16' 1979,(pp. 7-8).

Nevertheless, the party committees continue to help
raise and expend substantial sums of non-federal funds which

federal party officials openly concede are for the purpose



of influencing indirectly the Presidential race, or other
federal elections. It is especially ironic that national
{ party committees continue to speak openly of their direct
involvement in raising non-federal funds to support voter
registration and get out the vote drives by state party-

committees on behalf of a Presidential candidate, when

\

Commission regulations specifically exclude national party

committees from disbursing even federal funds to state

\r\ parties who are carrying out these activities pursuant to
M the specific provisions of the law. (See 11 C.F.R.
N 100.7(b)(17)(vii) and 11 C.F.R. 100.8(b)(18)(vii)).
Y It is the practice of the party committees to try to
| ;; isolate the non-federal funds used for party building
o activities from their impact on federal elections by .

matching such funds with other funds regulated under the

C federal election laws. 1In theory, the latter pays for the

portion of the activities attributable to the federal races.

In some cases, it may be unrealistic to conclude that
any of the party-building acti@ity is unconnected with the
federal election, or that any of the efforts can be

attributed solely to the purpose of influencing the non-

federal election. In such cases, any use of non-federal

funds constitutes a serious violation of federal election

laws.



Even if the federal and non-federal activities can be

separated, achieving a proper allocation of expenditures

between the federal and non-federal campaign is essential in :
order to avoid wholesale violation of the federal election

laws. 1In fact, the party committees appear to be seriously
underestimating the prbpo;tion of the activlty attributable

to the federal elections. For example, the Republican Pd:ty

in California plans to spend a to;a; of §$10.5 million this

year on voter registtration, get out the vote efforts, and

other party-building activities which will assist President
Reagan and the pthet federal candidates in the state in

November. According to the state party's executive

523 8~

- director, Mr. John Meyers, only 30% of the funds for the

Lo effort will come from federal accounts. Seventy percent of
Q the funds used in activities assisting the fedefal

g candidates as well as state candidates will come from non-
g federal funds. (Edsall, April 30, 1984,_53255.)

:: As discussed in detail below in connection with the

1983 election in Washington State, this practiqg continues
despite the cleé: requirement of the Commission that in

making the allocation, the number‘of federal candidates be
weighed more heavily than non-federal candidates. (See e.g.
AOR 76-72, October 6, 1976, p. 1).
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